
D R A F T 
Broward Regional EMS Council 

EMS Review Committee  
February 9, 2023 

1:30 p.m. 
MIN

 
UTES 

Call to Order 
Chief Bruce Caruso, Acting Chair, called meeting to order at 1:33 pm. 
Chief Caruso introduced himself. 

Roll Call 
Alison Zerbe called roll and quorum established. 

Announcements: N/A 

Identify Conflicts of Interest 
Dr. Randy Katz, Division Chief for Emergency Services, Memorial Healthcare System, 
Medical Director for City of Hollywood Fire Rescue, and Medical Director for AMR South 
Regional 

Approval of Minutes from November 18, 2021: 
MOTION to Accept the minutes of November 18, 2021 
Motion made by: Chief Harris Bouchillon 
Seconded by: Chief Julie Downey 

MOTION passed unanimously 

Old Business 
None 

New Business 

Presentation: 
Alison Zerbe – Overview of the EMS Review process and Ms. Zerbe sent a link prior to 
the meeting. 
They were going to have four applications, but three were pulled to table. Today they will 
review 5 Max Transport, LLC. 

COPCN – Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity. Broward County has an 
ordinance Chapter 3½. All the information is there. COPCN is to maintain the quality and 
integrity of Broward County’s medical transportation system. The EMS Review 
Committee provides the County administration with recommendations regarding the 
applications. The ordinance also states that the community needs assessment which 
must be done and provided; they will go over.  

Once they make the recommendation it will go to the County Commission who ultimately 
makes the decision on whether they will allow a COPCN. At this point, there will be a 
public hearing where the public can speak about the applicant. 

Every ambulance provider must provide their response time every year, including 911 
system. They don’t have the 911 included in this because they are only talking about 
Page 1 of 6 



D R A F T 
Broward Regional EMS Council 

EMS Review Committee  
February 9, 2023 

1:30 p.m. 
MINUTES 

 

Page 2 of 6 

Class 3 today. 

Ms. Zerbe presented the results from  the survey done in 2020. Ten out of sixteen (62%) 
acute care facilities responded to the survey. It was sent out several time during the year. 
Fifteen other Broward County healthcare facilities responded which included skilled 
nursing facilities, assisted living facilities, etc. Fifteen of those responded only contract 
with one provider. There’s nothing in the Broward County ordinance that says they can’t 
contract with more providers. Half of thirteen providers that responded said they only 
contract with one provider. If they get an unsatisfactory ETA they are not contacting 
another provider.  

A complete Survey presentation is available upon request. 

MOTION to table Class 5, Class 2, and Class 3, also known as Cleveland Clinic 
Advanced Medical Transport. 
Motion made by Chief Julie Downey 
Seconded by Chief Harris Bouchillon 

Motion passed unanimously 

Discussion: 
Ms. Zerbe said that the above applicant wanted to retract it from this meeting, and they 
would be in contact with us. 

5 Max Transport LLC – Class 3, BLS Transportation COPCN application: 

Ms. Zerbe sent out their application and Consumer Protection received all their 
documents for the review. Consumer Protection are present today to answer any 
questions. Ms. Zerbe can answer any procedural questions. 

Novia Markes, Nurse Practitioner, 5 Max Transport LLC. Said that her reason for starting 
this company was that her last bedside job was critical coordinator for a hospital. It 
entailed seeing the person from admission to discharge.  

The largest problem getting people out of the hospital was transportation, especially, after 
5:00 p.m. and on the weekends. That caused reimbursement problems for the hospital.  

Another issue was that most transports were taking more than two hours. Most people 
only know about one company, even though there are other options. They call and leave 
a message. She didn’t know until she had this position that she could call ahead and book 
the time. This was an ongoing problem that she wants to address. She also had a report 
from Medicaid that showed the lack of transportation for Medicaid patients is causing an 
impact on Broward County’s increased demands. 

Consumer Protection said this process is for COPCN to identify for their state license and 
start operations in this business. 



D R A F T 
Broward Regional EMS Council 

EMS Review Committee  
February 9, 2023 

1:30 p.m. 
MINUTES 

 

Page 3 of 6 

Dr. Katz from the EMS Review Committee said that it was his understanding that they 
never ran an ambulance company and don’t have additional company experience.  

Ms. Markes said that she never ran an ambulance company but has direct dealings with 
them in her prior experience. She said that her medical director, Cornell Corrinesto had 
been Director of Emergency Medical Transportation at Plantation General. He was FIU 
instructor for medical. His name is Cornell Corrinesto.  

Ms. Markes worked at nighttime. In her experience, if the patient was discharge after 3 
p.m. it takes much longer to get transport.

Dr. Katz said that he worked on both sides. You do rely on one private ambulance 
company. They did ask the ambulance company to give them turnaround times because 
they have interfacility transports. If you look at the average, it’s not really that bad. There’s 
always outliers. Sometimes the vehicles are idle because they don’t have EMTs to staff 
them. There is a national shortage of EMTs/paramedics. He belongs to the National 
Association of EMS Medical Records. EMS medical records indicated it was even worse 
than Broward County and happening throughout the country. He wondered if adding more 
companies and more vehicles is going to make a difference due to the limited number of 
EMTs. He said that he assumed they were going to address that issue, and  asked how 
do they plan to staff? 

Ms. Markes said she has been a nurse for 20 years. She knows they are constantly 
working to get more EMTs. She’s been in contact with Broward College, and they will let 
her present to and recruit from the graduating class. Her plan was to recruit from schools. 
She’s aware of the shortage but there will be over two million Broward residents by 2024. 

Chief Downey asked how many ambulances they will put into service? They are starting 
with one to two depending on the requirements. When asked about the quality of the 
patient’s experience she said that they were going to train them how to take care of the 
patients and maintain a relationship with the patient and families. To maintain this they 
will have a quality assurance team checking pre- and post- trips. 

Chief Caruso said he knows 5 Max’s medical director is licensed in the state of Florida, 
but he lives in Las Vegas. Ms. Markes said he also has a home in Florida, and he travels 
back and forth. Chief Caruso said that ties into the quality. Chief Caruso’s been involved 
in fire rescue for 39 years and EMS Division Chief for Fire Rescue for Dania Beach, and 
also BSO fire rescue. He is familiar with EMS and protocols. The departments he worked 
for were looking for hands-on. They needed their medical director for training, protocol 
changes, and quality improvement. With 5 Max’s medical director traveling back and forth, 
he doesn’t know how that quality level will be maintained and how they will have a strong 
relationship with their medical director. 

Ms. Markes responded that they discussed this and initially planned for the medical 
director to be here monthly to maintain the quality. Then they would see how often he 
would need to be physically present.  

Chief Caruso asked and Ms. Markes answered that her nursing experience was in 



D R A F T 
Broward Regional EMS Council 

EMS Review Committee  
February 9, 2023 

1:30 p.m. 
MINUTES 

 

Page 4 of 6 

Broward County. 

When Chief Downey asked how many ambulances they had Ms. Markes said they 
physically had two. 

Ms. Markes stated this was a new application. 

Chief Caruso said he noticed 5 Max’s would operate at their Bay Station, but some of 
their documents had different addresses, i.e. Banking. Most of the times in the past, all of 
the addresses all matched up. Ms. Markes said that they had other businesses in Broward 
County and the banking address was different because the physical location was not 
established. 

Ms. Markes was asked if she owned any more healthcare businesses in Broward County. 
She responded she owned a wellness center in Pembroke Pines. 

Chief Downey asked where the ambulances would be stationed, and Ms. Markes 
responded 2105 Sheridan Street. They would have one phoned and run calls 24/7. 

There were not anymore questions or additional statements. 

Alison Zerbe said the process for ordinance is EMS Review Committee will make a 
recommendations whether to accept or deny the application, EMS Council will make a 
recommendation that will come from Dr. MacDougall to accept or deny, then the County 
Administrator designee will make a recommendation. They will bring all recommendations 
to the County Commission and have a public hearing where anyone has an opportunity 
to speak at the County Commission.  

Chief Caruso said that EMS Review Committee was only a recommendation. Alison 
Zerbe said that the County will take the EMS Council’s recommendation into play because 
EMS Council is the board that provides the recommendations. 

At this point, Dr. Katz abstained from making a motion or voting because he has a conflict 
of interest, that being AMR. They still have a quorum with four EMS Review Committee 
members. 

Chief Downey questioned when they talk about the number of providers, do they know 
how many units are assigned to each county? She looked at the numbers: Broward 
County has four, and Miami-Dade has four. They have almost a million more people than 
Broward County. 

Alexander Fernandez wanted to know if the EMS Review Committee makes the 
recommendation to issue a license, what would be the quality oversight? How do they 
ensure the quality of the new and existing licensees? 



D R A F T 
Broward Regional EMS Council 

EMS Review Committee  
February 9, 2023 

1:30 p.m. 
MINUTES 

 

Page 5 of 6 

Joe O’Geen, Consumer Protection, said that each vehicle is inspected twice a year. Chief 
Caruso asked if there was anything else besides the inspection of the vehicle that their 
department performs? Is there a continuation of driving records and background check?  

Mr. O’Geen said that now that the drivers can be just drivers, they need registration and 
would be fingerprinted and check backgrounds. They show there registration every two 
years.  Ms. Markes commented their company does this with new hires.  

Mr. Fernandez stated he wanted to know more about the care of the patient than just the 
vehicle. Ms. Markes commented that would be something she would oversee that the 
patients are taken care of, background checks, and cameras on the ambulance to ensure 
safety and proper transport of each patient.  

Ms. Zerbe said they do have the EMS Review Committee for formal complaints. 

Mr. O’Geen said 5 Max Transport has been cited without a license one time in January 
2023. Ms. Markes said they don’t have anything to operate. Mr. O’Geen said they were 
cited for advertising without a license. Ms. Markes asked advertising where? Michelle 
Valverde, Consumer Protection, said advertising on 5 Max’s website. To which Ms. Makes 
stated they don’t have a website. Mr. O’Geen said that the website was up, and Ms. 
Valverde said having a website is advertising. Ms. Markes commented they can call for 
an ambulance, but they won’t get anywhere because it’s just a website. Ms. Markes did 
not know about the citation. 

Chief Caruso asked Adam Katz, Broward County Attorney, if the citation would have to 
be resolved before recommending? Mr. Katz said that if they want to consider it. Is it 
outstanding or still pending?  

Mr. O’Geen said that it already went to a hearing and was finalized. Ms. Markes 
responded that she never knew about this. Mr. O’Geen said that they were given a notice 
of warning in August 2022 for the same thing. Raini Jones, Consumer Protection, said 
she sent it to Ms. Markes’ address of her corporation on Sunbiz. Ms. Markes signed for 
it. Consumer Protection also posted a citation at their office on Sheridan Street. Ms. 
Markes was not aware of this.  

Mr. O’Geen said the citation was actually issued on October 5, 2022 and found valid by 
a hearing officer on January 10, 2023. Ms. Markes restated that this citation was about 
their website? Ms. Jones confirmed and said that Michelle Valverde mentioned that Ms. 
Markes contact her. 

Attorney Katz said that if a hearing officer found it valid then that’s the final citation, and if 
that’s something that someone wants to take into consideration. He said that in the 
ordinance you can take into consideration the application, multi-emerging calls in the 



D R A F T 
Broward Regional EMS Council 

EMS Review Committee  
February 9, 2023 

1:30 p.m. 
MINUTES 

 
 
 

Page 6 of 6 

 

 

outgoing area, response time of existing EMS providers excluding the Class 4 and Class 
5 which the survey excludes, past performance of the applicant, overall need for the 
service in the area, as well as other information they deemed relevant.  
 
MOTION was made to deny the application of 5 Max Transport LLC when there are 
violations.  
Motion made by Chief Julie Downey 
Seconded by Chief Harris Bouchillon 

Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Ms. Zerbe said that at this point there will be a public hearing which anyone from the 
public can speak. If it’s approved by County Commission, so be it, and if it’s denied by 
County Commission, per the ordinance, 5 Max could apply for an application a year 
from the date it was denied. 
 
Ms. Valverde, Consumer Protection, asked with the denial of the application today, will 
they be able to bring it back to this Committee at some point. Ms. Zerbe stated that it 
must go through the full process now and be heard by the Commission. 
 
The next EMS Review Committee is scheduled for June 1, at 3:00 p.m. following the 
EMS Council meeting. If they don’t have business they will cancel the meeting.  
 
Next Meeting Dates  
June 1, 2023 at 3:00 p.m. 

Adjourned 
2:15 PM 


	MOTION passed unanimously



Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		DRAFT MINUTES- EMS Review 2-9-2023-002.pdf




		Report created by: 

		

		Organization: 

		




[Enter personal and organization information through the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 2

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 0

		Passed: 30

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top


